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EXPLANATORY NOTE

 
On December 13, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), TeraWulf Inc. (formerly known as Telluride Holdco, Inc.), a Delaware corporation (“TeraWulf”), completed the previously
announced strategic business combination pursuant to the agreement and plan of merger, dated as of June 24, 2021 (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to
the Closing Date, the “Merger Agreement”), by and among TeraWulf, IKONICS Corporation, a Minnesota corporation (“IKONICS”), Telluride Merger Sub I, Inc., a
Minnesota corporation (“Merger Sub I”), Telluride Merger Sub II, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Merger Sub II”), and TeraCub Inc. (formerly known as TeraWulf Inc.), a
Delaware corporation (“TeraCub”). Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, (i) Merger Sub I, a wholly-owned subsidiary of TeraWulf, which was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of IKONICS, merged with and into IKONICS (the “First Merger”), with IKONICS surviving the First Merger, and (ii) Merger Sub II, a wholly-owned subsidiary of



TeraWulf, merged with and into TeraCub (the “Second Merger” and, together with the First Merger, the “Mergers”), with TeraCub surviving the Second Merger. In connection
with or as a result of the First Merger and the Second Merger, each of IKONICS and TeraCub became a wholly-owned subsidiary of TeraWulf. In addition, in connection with
the consummation of the Mergers, “Telluride Holdco, Inc.” was renamed “TeraWulf Inc.”, and “TeraWulf Inc.” was renamed “TeraCub Inc.”.
 
On the Closing Date, TeraWulf filed a Current Report on Form 8-K under Items 1.01, 2.01, 2.03, 3.01, 3.03, 5.01, 5.02, 5.03, 8.01 and 9.01 of the Current Report on Form 8-K
to report the consummation of the Mergers and related matters (the “Original Report”). This Current Report on Form 8-K/A is being filed to amend the Original Report to
provide (i) certain historical unaudited interim financial information of TeraCub as of September 30, 2021 and for the three and six months ended September 30, 2021 under
Item 9.01(a) of the Current Report on Form 8-K, (ii) certain historical unaudited interim financial information of Nautilus Cryptomine LLC as of September 30, 2021 and for
the six months ended September 30, 2021 under Item 9.01(a) of the Current Report on Form 8-K and (iii) certain unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
information of TeraWulf as of September 30, 2021 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020 under Item 9.01(b) of the Current
Report on Form 8-K.
 
Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Original Report.
 
Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.
 

(a)           Financial statements of businesses acquired.
 

The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements of TeraCub Inc. and subsidiaries as of September 30, 2021 and for the three and six months
ended September 30, 2021, and accompanying notes, are attached as Exhibit 99.1 and are incorporated by reference into this Current Report on Form 8-K/A.
 
The unaudited interim condensed financial statements of Nautilus Cryptomine LLC as of September 30, 2021 and for the six months ended September 30,
2021, and accompanying notes, are attached as Exhibit 99.2 and are incorporated by reference into this Current Report on Form 8-K/A.
 

(b)           Pro forma financial information.
 

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet of TeraWulf Inc. as of September 30, 2021 and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined
statements of operations of TeraWulf Inc. for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020, and accompanying notes, are
attached as Exhibit 99.3 and are incorporated by reference into this Current Report on Form 8-K/A.
 

 

 
(d)            Exhibits
 

Exhibit No.  Description of Exhibit 
99.1  Unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements of TeraCub Inc. and subsidiaries as of September 30, 2021 and for the three and six months

ended September 30, 2021.
   

99.2  Unaudited interim condensed financial statements of Nautilus Cryptomine LLC as of September 30, 2021 and for the six months ended September 30, 2021.
   

99.3  Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information of TeraWulf Inc. as of September 30, 2021 and for the nine months ended September 30,
2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020.

   
104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).
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TERAWULF INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND MARCH 31, 2021
(In thousands, except number of shares, per share amounts and par value)    
 
  September 30, 2021  March 31, 2021  
  (Unaudited)     
ASSETS       
CURRENT ASSETS:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 594  $ 6,300 
Prepaid expenses   2,573   5 
Other current assets   51   - 

Total current assets   3,218   6,305 
         
Equity in net assets of investee   63,005   - 
Property, plant and equipment, net   8,410   - 
Right-of-use asset   1,044   - 
Deposits   567   23,700 
Other assets   345   - 
         
TOTAL ASSETS  $ 76,589  $ 30,005 
         
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY         
CURRENT LIABILITIES:         

Acounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 8,035  $ 1,739 
Current portion of operating lease liability   87   - 

Total current liabilities   8,122   1,739 
         
Operating lease liability, net of current portion   1,015   - 
         
TOTAL LIABILITIES   9,137   1,739 
         

Commitments and Contingencies (See Note 7)
        

         
Series A redeemeable convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 2,000,000 authorized; 2,000,000 and 0 issued and
outstanding as of September 20, 2021 and March 31, 2021, respectively; contingent redemption amount $25 per share   49,815   - 
         
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:         

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 100,000,000 authorized, 50,000,000 issued and outstanding   50   50 
Additional paid-in capital   29,892   29,892 
Accumulated deficit   (12,305)   (1,676)

Total stockholders' equity   17,637   28,266 
         
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  $ 76,589  $ 30,005 

 
See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TERAWULF INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES   
   
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021  
(In thousands, except number of shares and loss per common share)  
   
 
  Three Months Ended  Six Months Ended  
  September 30, 2021   September 30, 2021 
Revenue  $ -  $ - 
         
Cost of operations:         

Operating expense   36   151 
Selling, general and administrative   5,998   10,150 

Total cost of operations   6,034   10,301 
         
Operating loss   (6,034)   (10,301)
Income tax expense (benefit)   -   - 
Equity in net loss of investee, net of tax   188   328 
Net loss  $ (6,222)  $ (10,629)
         
Loss per common share:         

Basic and diluted  $ (0.12)  $ (0.21)
         
Weighted average common shares outstanding:         

Basic and diluted   50,000,000   50,000,000 
 

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TERAWULF INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(UNAUDITED)
FOR THE THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021
(In thousands, except number of shares)
 
  Three Months Ended September 30, 2021  
  Preferred Stock   Common Stock   Additional       

  Number   Amount   Number   Amount   
Paid-in
Capital   

Accumulated
Deficit   Total  

Balances as of June 30, 2021   2,000,000  $ 49,815   50,000,000  $ 50  $ 29,892  $ (6,083)  $ 23,859 
                             
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   (6,222)   (6,222)
                             
Balances as of September 30, 2021   2,000,000  $ 49,815   50,000,000  $ 50  $ 29,892  $ (12,305)  $ 17,637 
                             
    Six Months Ended September 30, 2021  

   Preferred Stock    Common Stock     Additional         

    Number     Amount     Number     Amount    
Paid-in
Capital    

Accumulated
Deficit     Total  

Balances as of March 31, 2021   -  $ -   50,000,000  $ 50  $ 29,892  $ (1,676)  $ 28,266 
                             
Issuance of Series A Preferred Stock, net of issuance costs  2,000,000   49,815   -   -   -   -   - 
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   (10,629)   (10,629)
                             
Balances as of September 30, 2021   2,000,000  $ 49,815   50,000,000  $ 50  $ 29,892  $ (12,305)  $ 17,637 
 

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TERAWULF INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021
(In thousands)    
 
  2021  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:     
Net loss  $ (10,629)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:     



Equity in net loss of investee, net of tax   328 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     

Increase in prepaid expenses   (2,568)
Increase in other current assets   (51)
Decrease in right-of-use asset   32 
Increase in deposits   (567)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities   4,119 
Increase in operating lease liability   26 

Net cash used in operating activities   (9,310)
     
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:     

Investments in joint venture related to direct payments made on behalf of joint venture   (51,483)
Reimbursable payments for deposits on plant and equipment made on behalf of a joint venture partner   (38,466)
Reimbursement of payments for deposits on plant and equipment made on behalf of a joint venture partner   38,466 
Reimbursement from joint venture partner for deposits on plant and equipment contributed to the joint venture   11,850 
Purchase of and deposits on plant and equipment   (6,763)

Net cash used in investing activities   (46,396)
     
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:     

Proceeds from issuance of Series A preferred stock   50,000 
Net cash provided by financing activities   50,000 

     
Net change in cash and cash equivalents   (5,706)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   6,300 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 594 
     
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:     

Right-of-use asset obtained in exchange for lease obligation  $ 1,076 
Contribution of deposits on plant and equipment to joint venture  $ 11,850 
Series A preferred stock issuance costs in accrued liabilities  $ 185 
Deferred financing costs in accrued liabilities  $ 345 
Purchases of and deposits on plant and equipment in accounts payable  $ 1,647 

 

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TERAWULF INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
 
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION
 
Organization
 
TeraWulf Inc. is a Delaware corporation that was formed on February 8, 2021, with the planned principal operations of developing, constructing and operating bitcoin mining
facilities in the United States that are fueled by clean, low cost and reliable power sources. TeraWulf Inc. and its Subsidiaries (collectively “TeraWulf” or the “Company”)
expect to operate a portfolio of bitcoin mining facilities, either wholly owned or through joint ventures, that each deploy a series of powerful computers that solve complex
cryptographic algorithms to mine bitcoin and validate transactions on the bitcoin network. Substantially all of TeraWulf’s revenue will be derived from two primary sources:
earning bitcoin rewards and transaction fees for validating transactions. While the Company may choose to mine other cryptocurrencies in the future, it has no plans to do so
currently.
 
TeraWulf’s first two bitcoin mining facilities in New York and Pennsylvania are expected to comprise 550 megawatts (“MW”) of net total mining capacity, initially. The
Pennsylvania bitcoin mining facility is being developed through a joint venture (see Note 6). The Company’s New York bitcoin mining facility is expected to commence
operations in the first quarter of 2022, while the Pennsylvania joint venture bitcoin mining facility is expected to commence operations in the second quarter of 2022. TeraWulf
expects the 550 MW build-out to be completed by the end of 2023. During 2021, the Company entered into certain purchase agreements with two bitcoin miner manufacturers
to acquire up to a total of 60,000 bitcoin miners, which are expected to be delivered between November 2021 and June 2022. See Note 6 for additional information.
 
In May 2021, TeraWulf created three wholly owned subsidiaries to facilitate ownership of bitcoin mining facilities or joint venture interests related thereto. Lake Mariner Data
LLC and Kyalami Data LLC are subsidiaries involved in developing wholly owned bitcoin mining facilities in New York. TeraWulf (Thales) LLC (“Thales”) is a subsidiary
holding interests in a joint venture involved in developing bitcoin mining facilities in Pennsylvania (see Note 6).
 
The Company’s activities are subject to significant risks and uncertainties, including failing to secure additional funding to construct and operate the bitcoin mining facilities and
failing to successfully secure sufficient bitcoin miners, site locations and electricity required for bitcoin mining operations. As of September 30, 2021, the Company had no
revenue and no bitcoin mining facilities in operation but has commenced related development and equipment procurement activities.
 
Merger Agreement
 
On June 25, 2021, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with IKONICS Corporation (“IKONICS”), a public company
registered on the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations (“Nasdaq”), pursuant to which, among other things, the Company will effectively acquire
IKONICS and become a publicly traded company on the Nasdaq, subject to certain conditions being fulfilled including, but not limited to, approval by the stockholders of both
the Company and IKONICS and a registration statement on Form S-4 becoming effective under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. On November 12, 2021, a registration
statement on Form S-4 became effective under the Securities Act of 1933.
 
The Merger Agreement contemplates the creation of certain holding companies and subsidiaries and multiple merger steps to accomplish the Merger Agreement objective of a
combined public entity under the control of TeraWulf’s legacy stockholders. Subsequent to the effective completion of the multiple merger steps, under the terms of the Merger
Agreement, each share of IKONICS common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the transaction close, as defined (the “Closing”), will automatically be
converted into and exchanged for (i) one validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable share of common stock of the surviving public company, (ii) one contractual contingent



value right to a Contingent Value Rights Agreement (“CVR Agreement” as discussed below) and (iii) the right to receive $5.00 in cash, without interest. TeraWulf common
stock (including new shares of TeraWulf common stock resulting from the conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock described in Note 8, but excluding any Dissenting Shares
as defined in the Merger Agreement), issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Closing will automatically be converted into the right to receive a number of validly
issued, fully paid and nonassessable shares of the surviving publicly listed company such that the TeraWulf common stock holders prior to conversion will effectively control
98% of the total outstanding shares of the surviving public company immediately subsequent to the Closing.
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TERAWULF INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
 
The Merger Agreement contains customary representations and warranties from the Company and IKONICS. It also contains customary covenants, including providing (i) for
each of the parties to use reasonable best efforts to consummate the transactions contemplated in the Merger Agreement, and (ii) for the Company and IKONICS to carry on
their respective businesses in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice during the period between the execution of the Merger Agreement and the Closing.
The Merger Agreement contains termination rights for each of IKONICS and TeraWulf and provides that IKONICS will be obligated to pay TeraWulf a termination fee of $1.2
million, and TeraWulf will be obligated to pay IKONICS a termination fee of $10.0 million if the Merger Agreement is terminated under certain circumstances.
 
Pursuant to the CVR Agreement, each shareholder of IKONICS as of immediately prior to the Closing, will receive one non-transferable contingent value right (“CVR”) for
each outstanding share of common stock of IKONICS then held. The holders of the CVRs will be entitled to receive 95% of the Net Proceeds (as defined in the CVR
Agreement), if any, from the sale, transfer, disposition, spin-off, or license of all or any part of the pre-merger business of IKONICS, subject to a reserve of up to 10% of the
Gross Proceeds (as defined in the CVR Agreement) from such transaction. The CVRs will not confer to the holders thereof any voting or equity or ownership interest in
TeraWulf. The CVRs will not be transferable, except in limited circumstances, and will not be listed on any quotation system or traded on any securities exchange. The CVR
Agreement will terminate after all payment obligations to the holders thereof have been satisfied. Holders of CVRs will not be eligible to receive payment for dispositions, if
any, of any part of the pre-merger business of IKONICS after the eighteen-month anniversary of the Closing.
 
On December 2, 2021, the Merger Agreement was amended to provide for Company reimbursement to IKONICS prior to the Closing of all payments made or then agreed to be
made by IKONICS in exchange for the cancellation of restricted stock unit awards. The Company reimbursed IKONICS approximately $3.0 million under this provision.
 
On December 13, 2021, the Closing was effected and the Company thereby acquired IKONICS pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, as amended. As a result,
subsequent to the Closing, TeraWulf, renamed TeraCub Inc., became a wholly owned subsidiary of a public company, initially named Telluride Holdco, Inc. and renamed
TeraWulf Inc., which is registered on Nasdaq.
 
NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation
 
The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information. In the opinion of the Company, the accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated
financial statements reflect all adjustments, consisting of only normal recurring adjustments, considered necessary for a fair statement of such interim results.
 
The results for the unaudited interim condensed consolidated statements of operations are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the year ending March 31, 2022
or for any future interim period. The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements do not include all of the information and notes required by U.S. GAAP for
complete financial statements. The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the financial statements as
of March 31, 2021 and for the period February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to March 31, 2021 and the notes thereto.
 
The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company as described in Note 1. All significant intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated.
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TERAWULF INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
 
Variable Interest Entities
 
Variable interest entities (“VIE”) are legal entities in which equity investors do not have (i) sufficient equity at risk for the legal entity to finance its activities without additional
subordinated financial support, or (ii) as a group, the holders of the equity investment at risk do not have either the power, through voting or similar rights, to direct the activities
of the legal entity that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance, or (iii) the obligation to absorb the expected losses of the legal entity or the right to receive
expected residual returns of the legal entity. The Company would consolidate any VIE in which it has a controlling financial interest through being deemed to be the primary
beneficiary of the VIE. The primary beneficiary of a VIE has both of the following characteristics: (1) the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact
its economic performance; and (2) the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that
could be significant to the VIE. If both characteristics are met, the Company considers itself to be the primary beneficiary and therefore will consolidate that VIE into its
consolidated financial statements.
 
The Company determines whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE upon initial involvement with a VIE and reassesses whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE on an
ongoing basis. The determination of whether an entity is a VIE and whether the Company is the primary beneficiary of a VIE is based upon facts and circumstances for the VIE
and requires significant judgments such as whether the entity is a VIE, whether the Company’s interest in a VIE is a variable interest, the determination of the activities that
most significantly impact the economic performance of the entity, whether the Company controls those activities, and whether the Company has the obligation to absorb losses
of the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could be significant to the VIE.  
 
In 2021, the Company entered into a joint venture, Nautilus Cryptomine LLC (“Nautilus”) with an unrelated co-venturer, to develop, construct and operate a bitcoin mining
facility in Pennsylvania. Due to the initial nature of the joint venture and the continued commitment for additional financing, the Company determined Nautilus is a VIE. While
the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence over Nautilus, the Company has determined that it does not have the power to direct the activities that most
significantly impact the economic performance of Nautilus. The power to direct the activities of Nautilus that most significantly impact Nautilus’ economic performance are
shared equally by both parties within the joint venture due to the requirement for both equity holders to approve many of the key operating decisions and when not equally



shared, are predominantly under the control of the co-venturer, including through the co-venturer’s majority representation on the board of managers. As such, the Company has
determined that it is not the primary beneficiary of Nautilus and, therefore, has accounted for this entity under the equity method of accounting. Risks associated with the
Company’s involvement with Nautilus include a commitment to fund additional equity investments. See Note 6 for additional information.
 
Equity Method of Accounting
 
Investee companies that are not consolidated, but over which the Company exercises significant influence, are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Whether or
not the Company exercises significant influence with respect to an investee depends on an evaluation of several factors including, among others, representation on the investee
company's board of directors and ownership level, which is generally a 20% to 50% interest in the voting securities of the investee company. Under the equity method of
accounting, an investee company's accounts are not reflected within the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheets and statements of operations; however, the
Company's share of the earnings or losses of the investee company is reflected in the caption “Equity in net loss of investee, net of tax” in the condensed consolidated statements
of operations. The Company's carrying value in an equity method investee company is reflected in the caption “Equity in net assets of investee ” in the Company's condensed
consolidated balance sheets.
 
When the Company's carrying value in an equity method investee company is reduced to zero, no further losses are recorded in the Company's condensed consolidated financial
statements unless the Company guaranteed obligations of the investee company or has committed additional funding. When the investee company subsequently reports income,
the Company will not record its share of such income until it equals the amount of its share of losses not previously recognized.
 
The Company's investment in companies that are accounted for under the equity method of accounting consists of a 50% interest in Nautilus. See Note 6 for additional
information.
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TERAWULF INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
 
Use of Estimates in the Financial Statements
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosures of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Estimates are used for (but are not limited to) such items as the establishment of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities that arise from leasing arrangements, the timing of
commencement of capitalization for plant and equipment, the probability of consummating contemplated financing activities, recoverability of deferred tax assets and the
recording of various accruals. These estimates are made after considering past and current events and assumptions about future events. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.
 
Property, Plant and Equipment
 
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold
improvements are depreciated over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term. Property, plant and equipment includes deposits on purchases of such assets that
would be included in property, plant and equipment upon receipt, an amount of approximately $3.5 million as of September 30, 2021. As of March 31, 2021, deposits on
miners were not recorded in property, plant and equipment as the Company had not determined which bitcoin mining facility would utilize the miners. See Note 6 for additional
information.
 
Leases
 
The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception and, if so, classifies the lease as an operating or finance lease. Operating leases are included in right-of-use
(“ROU”) asset, current portion of operating lease liabilities, and long-term lease operating liabilities in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. Finance leases are included in
property, plant and equipment, current portion of finance lease liabilities, and long-term lease finance liabilities in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The Company
does not recognize a ROU asset or lease liability for short-term leases having initial terms of 12 months or less and instead recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. In an arrangement that is determined to be a lease, the Company includes both the lease and nonlease components as a single component and accounts for it as a
lease when the Company would otherwise recognize the cost associated with both the lease and nonlease components in a similar fashion.
 
ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising
from the lease. Lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date, and subsequently remeasured upon changes to the underlying lease arrangement, based
on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. If the lease does not provide an implicit rate or if the implicit rate is not determinable, the Company generally uses
an estimate of its incremental borrowing rate based on the estimated rate of interest for collateralized borrowing over a similar term of the lease payments at the commencement
date. The ROU asset also includes any lease prepayments made and excludes lease incentives. The Company’s lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease
when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option.

 
Costs associated with operating lease ROU assets are recognized on a straight-line basis within operating expenses or selling, general and administrative, as appropriate, over the
term of the lease. Finance ROU lease assets are amortized within operating expenses or selling, general and administrative, as appropriate, on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or, in the instance where title does not transfer at the end of the lease term, the lease term. The interest component of a finance
lease is included in interest expense and recognized using the effective interest method over the lease term.
 
As of March 31, 2021 and September 30, 2021, the Company is not a counterparty to any finance leases.
 

9 

 

 
TERAWULF INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
 
Stock Issuance Costs
 
Stock issuance costs are recorded as a reduction to issuance proceeds. Stock issuance costs incurred prior to the closing of the related issuance are recorded in other assets in the



condensed consolidated balance sheets if the closing of the related issuance is deemed probable.
 
Revenue recognition 
 
The Company recognizes revenue under the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers.” The core principle of the revenue standard is that a company should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The following five steps are applied to achieve that
core principle:
 

· Step 1: Identify the contract with the customer
   

· Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
   

· Step 3: Determine the transaction price
   

· Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
   

· Step 5: Recognize revenue when the Company satisfies a performance obligation
 
In order to identify the performance obligations in a contract with a customer, a company must assess the promised goods or services in the contract and identify each promised
good or service that is distinct. A performance obligation meets ASC 606’s definition of a “distinct” good or service (or bundle of goods or services) if both of the following
criteria are met: the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other resources that are readily available to the customer (i.e., the good or
service is capable of being distinct), and the entity’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract (i.e., the
promise to transfer the good or service is distinct within the context of the contract).
 
If a good or service is not distinct, the good or service is combined with other promised goods or services until a bundle of goods or services is identified that is distinct.
 
The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer. The
consideration promised in a contract with a customer may include fixed amounts, variable amounts, or both. When determining the transaction price, an entity must consider the
effects of all of the following:
 

· Variable consideration
   

· Constraining estimates of variable consideration
   

· The existence of a significant financing component in the contract
   

· Noncash consideration
   

· Consideration payable to a customer
 
Variable consideration is included in the transaction price only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. The transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation on a relative
standalone selling price basis. The transaction price allocated to each performance obligation is recognized when that performance obligation is satisfied, at a point in time or
over time as appropriate.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
 
Mining pools
 
The Company intends to enter into cryptocurrency mining pools by executing contracts with the mining pool operators to provide computing power to the mining pool. The
contracts are expected to be terminable at any time by either party and our enforceable right to compensation only begins when the Company provides computing power to the
mining pool operator. In exchange for providing computing power, the Company will be entitled to a fractional share of the fixed cryptocurrency award the mining pool
operator receives (less fees to the mining pool operator), for successfully adding a block to the blockchain. The Company’s fractional share is based on the proportion of
computing power the Company contributed to the mining pool operator to the total computing power contributed by all mining pool participants in solving the current
algorithm.
 
Consideration is constrained from recognition until the mining pool operator successfully places a block (by being the first to solve an algorithm) and the Company receives
confirmation of the consideration it will receive; at this time, cumulative revenue is no longer probable of significant reversal, i.e., associated uncertainty is resolved. Fair value
of the cryptocurrency award received is determined using the quoted price of the related cryptocurrency at the time of receipt.
 
There is no significant financing component in these transactions. There is, however, consideration payable to the customer in the form of a pool operator fee, payable only if
the pool is the first to solve the equation; this fee will be deducted from the proceeds the Company receives and will be recorded as contra-revenue, as it does not represent a
payment for a distinct good or service.
 
Providing computing power in cryptocurrency transaction verification services will be an output of the Company’s ordinary activities. The provision of providing such
computing power is a performance obligation. The transaction consideration the Company receives, if any, is non-cash consideration and is all variable. Fair value of the
cryptocurrency award received for cryptocurrency transaction verification services is determined using the quoted price of the related cryptocurrency at the time of receipt.
There is no significant financing component in these transactions.
 
Cryptocurrencies
 
Cryptocurrencies, including bitcoin, will be included in current assets in the consolidated balance sheets. Cryptocurrencies purchased will be recorded at cost and
cryptocurrencies awarded to the Company through the Company’s mining activities will be accounted for in connection with the Company’s revenue recognition policy
disclosed above.
 
Cryptocurrencies will be accounted for as intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortized but assessed for



impairment annually, or more frequently, when events or changes in circumstances occur indicating that it is more likely than not that the indefinite-lived asset is impaired.
Impairment exists when the carrying amount exceeds its fair value, which is measured using the quoted price of the cryptocurrency at the time its fair value is being measured.
In testing for impairment, the Company has the option to first perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that an impairment exists. If it is
determined that it is not more likely than not that an impairment exists, a quantitative impairment test is not necessary. If the Company concludes otherwise, the Company is
required to perform a quantitative impairment test. To the extent an impairment loss is recognized, the loss establishes the new cost basis of the asset. Subsequent reversal of
impairment losses is not permitted.
 
Purchases of cryptocurrencies, if any, made by the Company will be included within investing activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows, while cryptocurrencies
awarded to the Company through its mining activities will be included as a non-cash adjustment within operating activities on the consolidated statements of cash flows. The
sales of cryptocurrencies will be included within investing activities in consolidated statements of cash flows and any realized gains or losses from such sales will be included in
other income (expense) in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company will account for its gains or losses in accordance with the first in first out (“FIFO”) method
of accounting.
 
There is currently no specific definitive guidance under GAAP or alternative accounting framework for the accounting for cryptocurrencies recognized as revenue or held, and
management has exercised significant judgment in determining the appropriate accounting treatment. In the event authoritative guidance is enacted by the FASB, the Company
may be required to change its policies, which could have an effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
 
Earnings (loss) per Share
 
The Company computes earnings (loss) per share using the two-class method required for participating securities. The two-class method requires income available to common
stockholders for the period to be allocated between common stock and participating securities based upon their respective rights to receive dividends as if all income for the
period had been distributed. The Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock is a participating security. The Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock
contractually entitles the holders of such shares to participate in dividends but does not contractually require the holders of such shares to participate in the Company’s losses.
As such, the net loss for the period presented is not allocated to the Company’s participating security.
 
Basic earnings (loss) per share of common stock is computed by dividing the Company’s net earnings (loss) by the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the effect on weighted average shares outstanding of the number of additional shares outstanding if potentially
dilutive instruments, if any, were converted into common stock using the treasury stock method. The computation of diluted net loss per share does not include dilutive
instruments in the weighted average shares outstanding, as they would be anti-dilutive. The Company had no dilutive instruments or participating securities as of March 31,
2021 and September 30, 2021.
 
Concentrations
 
The Company or its joint venture have contracted with two suppliers for the provision of bitcoin miners. Although one supplier has lagged in its miner delivery schedule, the
Company expects that the ordered miners from such supplier should be received prior to the miners’ projected installation dates. The Company will continue to monitor miner
supplier performance, but currently does not believe that these counterparties represent a significant performance risk.
 
The Company expects to operate bitcoin mining facilities. While the Company may choose to mine other cryptocurrencies in the future, it has no plans to do so currently. If the
market value of bitcoin declines significantly, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company may be adversely affected.
 
Recent Accounting Standards
 
In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”), which was further amended through various
updates issued by the FASB. The objective of ASU 2016-02 is to establish principles in reporting the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from a lease. The
Company early adopted ASU 2016-02 on April 1, 2021. At the date of adoption, the Company had no leases subject to the provision of ASU 2016-02. See Note 4.
 
In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s
Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity ("ASU 2020-06"), which simplifies accounting for convertible
instruments by removing major separation models required under current GAAP. ASU 2020-06 removes certain settlement conditions that are required for equity contracts to
qualify for the derivative scope exception and it also simplifies the diluted earnings per share calculation in certain areas and removes the requirement to separately account for
any existing beneficial conversion option. The Company early adopted ASU 2016-02 on April 1, 2021. At the date of adoption, the Company had no contracts subject to the
provision of ASU 2016-02. See Note 8 for information regarding the Company’s contingently redeemable preferred stock.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
 
NOTE 2 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
 
Fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As
such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for
considering such assumptions, a three-level fair value hierarchy prioritizing the inputs to valuation techniques is used to measure fair value. The levels are as follows: (Level 1)
observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; (Level 2) observable inputs for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted
prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable either directly or indirectly from market
data; and (Level 3) unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the Company to develop its own assumptions. This hierarchy requires the
Company to use observable market data, when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when determining fair value.
 
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents and accounts payable and accrued liabilities are considered to be representative of their respective fair values principally due to
their short-term maturities. There were no material non-recurring fair value measurements as of March 31, 2021 and September 30, 2021.



 
NOTE 3 — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 
Property, plant and equipment, net consisted of the following as of September 30, 2021 (in thousands):
 
  2021  
Construction in process  $ 8,410 
   8,410 
Less:  accumulated depreciation   - 
  $ 8,410 
 
No depreciation expense was recorded for the three and six months ended September 30, 2021.
 
NOTE 4 — LEASES

 
Effective in May 2021, the Company entered into a ground lease related to its planned bitcoin mining facility in New York with a counterparty which is a related party due to
control by a member of Company management. The lease includes fixed payments and contingent payments, including an annual escalation based on the change in the
Consumer Price Index as well as the Company’s proportionate share of the landlord’s cost to own, operate and maintain the premises. The lease has an initial term of five years
commencing in May 2021 and a renewal term of five years at the option of the Company, subject to the Company not then being in default, as defined. Payments under the lease
commence upon the earlier of (i) commencement of initial construction of structures on the premises or (ii) 180 days after the effective date. No amounts were paid during the
three and six months ended September 30, 2021. The lease is classified as an operating lease based on an analysis that utilized a discount rate of 6%, which is an estimate of the
Company’s incremental borrowing rate based on the estimated rate of interest for collateralized borrowing over a similar term of the lease payments at the commencement date.
For the three and six months ended September 30, 2021, the Company recorded operating lease expense of $22,000 and $58,000, respectively, in operating expense in the
condensed consolidated statements of operations and made no lease payments. The remaining lease term is 9.9 years.
 
The following is a maturity analysis of the annual undiscounted cash flows of the estimated operating lease liabilities as of September 30, 2021 (in thousands):
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
 
Year ending March 31:     
2022  $ 75 
2023   150 
2024   150 
2025   150 
2026   150 
Thereafter   775 
  $ 1,450 
 
A reconciliation of the undiscounted cash flows to the operating lease liabilities recognized in the condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2021, follows (in
thousands):
 
Undiscounted cash flows of the operating lease  $ 1,450 
Unamortized discount   348 
Total operating lease liability   1,102 
Current portion of operating lease liability   87 
Operating lease liability, net of current portion  $ 1,015 
 
NOTE 5 – INCOME TAXES
 
The Company’s tax provision or benefit from income taxes for interim periods is determined using an estimate of the Company’s annual effective tax rate, adjusted for discrete
items, if any, that are taken into account in the relevant period. Each quarter the Company updates its estimate of the annual effective tax rate, and if the estimated tax rate
changes, a cumulative adjustment is made, if required.
 
The Company has no unrecognized tax benefits as of March 31, 2021 and September 30, 2021. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest accrued and penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits in tax expense. Since the Company has no unrecognized tax benefits, no accrued interest or penalties were recorded during the three and six months
ended September 30, 2021.

 
TeraWulf files income tax returns in the U.S. Federal and Maryland, New York and Delaware State tax jurisdictions. The statute of limitations for TeraWulf remains open for
all periods.

NOTE 6 – JOINT VENTURE
 
On May 13, 2021, the Company and Talen Energy Corporation (“Talen”) (each a “Member” and collectively the “Members”) entered into a joint venture, Nautilus, to develop,
construct and operate up to 300 MW of zero-carbon bitcoin mining in Pennsylvania with operations expected to commence in the second quarter of 2022 (the “Joint Venture”).
In Connection with the Joint Venture, Nautilus simultaneously entered into (i) a Ground Lease (the “Ground Lease”), which includes an electricity supply component, with a
related party of Talen, (ii) a Facility Operations Agreement with a related party of the Company and (3) a Corporate Services Agreement with a related party of Talen. Each
Member holds a 50% interest in the Joint Venture. Pursuant to the terms of the Joint Venture agreement, TeraWulf will contribute $156.0 million both in cash and in-kind and
Talen will contribute $156.0 million both in cash and in-kind to Nautilus by March 2022, unless otherwise determined in accordance with the Joint Venture agreement.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
 
On March 19, 2021, the Company executed an agreement for the purchase of bitcoin miners from Minerva Semiconductor Corp. (“Minerva”) for a total of 30,000 MV7 miners,
with originally scheduled monthly deliveries of 10,000 miners each between November 2021 and January 2022, for an aggregate price of $118.5 million (the “Minerva
Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to the Minerva Purchase Agreement, the Company paid an initial deposit of $23.7 million and the amount is included in deposits in the balance
sheet as of March 31, 2021. During the three months ended June 30, 2021, an incremental deposit of $12.3 million was paid to Minerva in connection with the Minerva
Purchase Agreement. Concurrently with the execution of the Joint Venture agreement, TeraWulf assigned the Minerva Purchase Agreement to Nautilus and Talen reimbursed
the Company $18.0 million for 50% of the deposits made to Minerva as of that date. During the three months ended September 30, 2021, the Company paid to Minerva $4.5
million and was reimbursed by Talen for 50% of that amount. The balance of payments under the Minerva Purchase Agreement were originally scheduled to be paid as follows:
(i) 30% of the total price six months before the shipping date of each batch of bitcoin miners; (ii) 30% of the total price three months before the shipping date of each batch of
bitcoin miners; and (iii) the remaining 20% of the total price one month before the shipping date of each batch of bitcoin miners. Supply constraints at chip foundries and
production timelines have impacted pricing and delivery schedule. Accordingly, Nautilus and Minerva have deemed all payments made to date to apply to the initial 10,000
miners to be shipped, which payments comprise 90% of the total amount due for these miners. The balance of 20,000 miners under the Minerva Purchase Agreement remain
subject to discussion between the parties to the Minerva Purchase Agreement. As of the date at which these financial statements were available to be issued, Nautilus had not
amended the Minerva Purchase Agreement.
 
On June 15, 2021, Nautilus entered into two Non-fixed Price Sales and Purchase Agreements for the purchase of bitcoin miners from Bitmain Technologies Limited
(“Bitmain”) for a total of 30,000 S19j Pro miners, with originally scheduled monthly deliveries of 5,000 miners each between January 2022 and June 2022 (the “Bitmain
Purchase Agreements”). Pursuant to the Bitmain Purchase Agreements, Nautilus owed an initial deposit of approximately $47.0 million, which was paid by the Company during
the three months ended June 30, 2021. On a net basis, the Company funded approximately $23.5 million of the initial deposit in accordance with its 50% interest in the Joint
Venture as Talen subsequently reimbursed the Company during the three months ended June 30, 2021, approximately $23.5 million in accordance with its 50% interest in the
Joint Venture. During the three months ended September 30, 2021, the Company paid to Bitmain approximately $22.9 million. On a net basis, the Company funded
approximately $16.3 million as Talen reimbursed the Company during the three months ended September 30, 2021 approximately $6.6M in accordance with the Joint Venture
agreement.
 
The Company’s direct payments to Minerva and Bitmain, among others, on behalf of Nautilus for the three and six months ended September 30, 2021, are included in
investments in joint venture related to direct payments made on behalf of joint venture in the condensed consolidated statement of cash flows. A reconciliation of amounts
included within this footnote to captions in the condensed consolidated statement of cash flows follows (in thousands):
 

Payment of TeraWulf 50% share of Minerva deposits during the three months ended June 30, 2021  $ (6,150)
Payment of TeraWulf 50% share of Bitmain deposits during the three months ended June 30, 2021   (23,490)
Payment of TeraWulf 50% share of Minerva deposits during the three months ended September 30, 2021   (2,250)
Payment of TeraWulf 50% share of Bitmain deposits during the three months ended September 30, 2021   (16,332)
Other direct payments   (3,261)

Investments in joint venture related to direct payments made on behalf of joint venture  $ (51,483)
     

Payment of Talen 50% share of Minerva deposits during the three months ended June 30, 2021  $ (6,150)
Payment of Talen 50% share of Bitmain deposits during the three months ended June 30, 2021   (23,490)
Payment of Talen 50% share of Minerva deposits during the three months ended September 30, 2021   (2,250)
Payment of Talen 50% share of Bitmain deposits during the three months ended September 30, 2021   (6,576)

Reimbursable payments for deposits on plant and equipment made on behalf of a joint venture partner  $ (38,466)
     

Talen reimbursement of 50% share of Minerva deposits during the three months ended June 30, 2021  $ 6,150 
Talen reimbursement 50% share of Bitmain deposits during the three months ended June 30, 2021   23,490 
Talen reimbursement 50% share of Bitmain and Minerva deposits during the three months ended September 30, 2021   8,826 

Reimbursement of payments for deposits on plant and equipment made on behalf of a joint venture partner  $ 38,466 
     

Talen reimbursement of 50% share during the three months ended June 30, 2021 of Minerva initial deposit paid by TeraWulf during the period ended
March 31, 2021  $ 11,850 

Reimbursement from joint venture partner for deposits on plant and equipment contributed to the joint venture  $ 11,850 
     

Minerva Purchase Agreement assignment during the three months ended June 30, 2021 : TeraWulf 50% share of Minerva initial deposit paid by
TeraWulf during the period ended March 31, 2021  $ (11,850)

Contribution of deposits on plant and equipment to joint venture (non-cash activity)  $ (11,850)
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Nautilus is a VIE accounted for using the equity method of accounting. The table below summarizes the Company’s interest in Nautilus and the Company’s maximum exposure
to loss as a result of its involvement with the VIE as of September 30, 2021 (in thousands):
 

Entity  
% 

Ownership   
Initial 

Investment   
Additional
Investment   

Net loss
Inception to 

Date   

Company's
Variable

Interest in 
Entity   

Commitment to
Future

Additional 
Contributions (1)   

Company's
Maximum

Exposure to
Loss 

in Entity (2)  
Nautilus   50% $ 18,000  $ 45,333  $ (328)  $ 63,005  $ 92,667  $ 155,672 
 
(1) The Members may seek alternate financing for the Pennsylvania bitcoin mining facility, which could reduce the amount of investments each Member would be required to
provide. The Members may mutually agree on changes to the Pennsylvania bitcoin mining facility, which could increase or decrease the amount of contributions each Member
is required to provide.
 
(2) The maximum exposure is determined by adding the Company’s variable interest in the entity and any explicit or implicit arrangements that could require the Company to
provide additional financial support. The amount represents the contractually required capital contributions of the Company which are required for the initial phase of the
Pennsylvania bitcoin mining facility buildout.
 



The condensed results of operations for the three and six months ended September 30, 2021 and the condensed financial position as of September 30, 2021, of Nautilus are
summarized below (in thousands):
 

  

Three months
ended

September 30,
2021   

Six months
ended

September 30,
2021  

Condensed statements of operations information:         
Revenue  $ -  $ - 
Operating expense   375   656 
Net loss  $ (375)  $ (656)

 

  
September 30,

2021  
Condensed balance sheet information:     

Noncurrent assets  $ 156,702 
Total assets  $ 156,702 

     
Current liabilities  $ 12,678 
Equity   144,024 
Total liabilities and equity  $ 156,702 
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Due to the terms of the Joint Venture agreement, a temporary basis difference of $9.0 million as of September 30, 2021 exists between the Company’s equity in net assets of
investee included in the condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2021 and the underlying net assets of Nautilus. In connection with the execution of the
Ground Lease, Nautilus recorded an intangible asset, included in noncurrent assets in the condensed balance sheet information shown above, of $29.3 million related to the
excess of the fair value of the electricity Talen is required to provide over the price for which Nautilus is paying for such electricity, with a corresponding $29.3 million recorded
as an in-kind contribution receivable. The in-kind Talen contribution is, per the Joint Venture agreement, deemed to be contributed periodically over a six-month period
commencing on July 1, 2021 and ending on December 31, 2021. Over this period, per the Joint Venture agreement, the Company’s cash contributions to fund Nautilus’
business requirements will be commensurately adjusted so that the total Company cash contributions will be equal to the total of the Talen cash and in-kind deemed
contributions. Accordingly, at the close of the period on December 31, 2021, the temporary basis difference is expected to no longer exist.
 
NOTE 7 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 
COVID-19 and Cares Act
 
On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization (“WHO”) announced a global health emergency because of a new strain of coronavirus originating in Wuhan, China (the
“COVID-19 outbreak”) and the risks to the international community as the virus spreads globally beyond its point of origin. In March 2020, the WHO classified the COVID-19
outbreak as a pandemic, based on the rapid increase in exposure globally. The full impact of the COVID-19 outbreak continues to evolve as of the date of this report. As such, it
is uncertain as to the full magnitude that the pandemic will have on the Company’s financial condition, liquidity, and future results of operations. Management is actively
monitoring the global situation on its financial condition, liquidity, operations, supplies, industry and workforce. Given the daily evolution of the COVID-19 outbreak and the
global responses to curb its spread, the Company is not able to estimate the effects of the COVID-19 outbreak on its future results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.
 
NOTE 8 – REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK
 
In April 2021, TeraWulf commenced a private placement offering of 2,000,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, at an original issuance price per share of $25.00, to certain
individuals and accredited investors, for an aggregate amount of $50.0 million (the “Series A Private Placement”).  On June 15, 2021, the Series A Private Placement concluded
and was fully funded.
 
No dividends can be paid to stockholders of Common Stock (other than dividends on shares of Common Stock paid in Common Stock) unless the Preferred Stock first receives
a dividend equivalent to that proposed for the Common Stock. In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation or certain other deemed liquidation events, the Preferred
Sock holds a liquidation preference to the Common Stock. Holders of Preferred Stock will not generally have the right to vote at any meeting of stockholders. However, if more
than 1,000,000 shares, subject to certain adjustments, of Preferred Stock are outstanding, the holders have certain additional rights relating to liquidation and amendment to the
Company’s Certificate of Incorporation. Each share of Preferred Stock shall be convertible after June 1, 2022 into shares of Common Stock at an initial conversion price of
$25.00 per share. The Company shall at all times when Preferred Stock is outstanding reserve and keep available out of its authorized but unissued Common Stock sufficient
shares to effect the conversion of all outstanding Preferred Stock. If a Qualified Listing Event (“QLE”), as defined, occurs on or prior to June 1, 2022, the conversion price shall
be the lower of (a) (i) if the QLE occurs on or prior to December 1, 2021, an amount equal to 85% of the QLE price or (ii) if the QLE occurs after December 1, 2021 but on or
prior to June 1, 2022, an amount equal to 82.5% of the QLE price and (b) $39.00 per share, subject to adjustment for certain events including, but not limited to, dividends,
stock splits or other recapitalizations. Upon the occurrence of either (i) a QLE or (ii) the vote of holders of the Preferred Stock representing a majority of outstanding shares of
Preferred Stock, conversion of Preferred Stock into Common Stock will be mandatory and the shares of Preferred Stock may not be reissued by the Company. Unless
prohibited by law, at any time on or after June 1, 2024, the holders of the Preferred Stock can submit a redemption request whereby the Company will redeem the Preferred
Stock in three annual installments at a price equal to its original issue price plus all declared but unpaid dividends. On December 2, 2021, TeraWulf’s Certificate of
Incorporation was amended to provide that if the Closing under the Merger Agreement was to occur, the conversion ratio that shall apply to the conversion of shares of Preferred
Stock immediately prior to the effective time of the Closing shall be equal to 0.8696560 shares of Common Stock for each share of Preferred Stock. On December 13, 2021, the
Closing was effected and the Company converted the 2,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock into 1,739,311 shares of Common Stock.
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No dividends were declared for the three and six months ended September 30, 2021.
 
NOTE 9 – COMMON STOCK
 
Per the TeraWulf Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated May 14, 2021, the Company’s authorized capital stock consists of 100,000,000 shares of
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share, and 20,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share, with 2,000,000 shares of such authorized Preferred Stock
designated as Series A Preferred Stock.
 
In March 2021, TeraWulf completed a private offering of 6,000,000 shares of Common Stock at a price per share of $5.00 to certain individuals, for an aggregate gross amount
of $30 million (the “Common Stock Private Placement”), representing approximately 12% of the outstanding shares of the Company’s Common Stock subsequent to such
issuance of shares. The applicable stockholders agreement provides for certain limitations on share transfer rights, for registration of shares in connection with an initial public
offering, for execution of a lock-up agreement upon an initial public offering, for certain tag-along and drag-along rights and for certain preemptive rights upon future issuance
of shares by the Company. The voting rights of Common Stockholders and certain board of director features including the number of directors, board composition and
replacement of directors under certain conditions are circumscribed by certain stockholders which are controlled by certain members of the Company’s board of directors.
Proceeds of the Common Stock Private Placement were used primarily to fund the purchase of bitcoin mining equipment.
 
In December 2021, TeraWulf completed a private offering of 2,261,932 shares of Common Stock at a price per share of $33.82 to certain institutional and individual investors,
for gross proceeds of approximately $76.5 million (the “December Private Placement”). Additionally, in connection with a term loan offering, the Company issued 839,398
shares of Common Stock (see note 12).
 
On December 13, 2021, the Closing was effected and the Company converted the then outstanding 54,840,641 shares of Common Stock into 97,976,728 of shares of common
stock of the publicly registered TeraWulf, resulting in a total of 99,976,253 shares of common stock of the then publicly registered TeraWulf Inc. outstanding as of that date.
 
No dividends were declared for the three and six months ended September 30, 2021.
 
NOTE 10 – STOCK BASED COMPENSATION
 
On May 13, 2021, the Company made effective the 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) for purpose of attracting and retaining employees, consultants and directors of the
Company and its affiliates by providing each the opportunity to acquire an equity interest in the Company or other incentive compensation in order to align the interests of such
individuals with those of the Company’s stockholders. The Plan provides for a maximum number of shares to be issued, limitations of shares to be delivered for incentive stock
options and a maximum compensation amount for any non-employee member of the board of directors, among other provisions. The form of grants under the Plan includes
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and restricted stock units. No grants have been made under the Plan as of the date the financial statements were
available to be issued.
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NOTE 11 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
 
On April 27, 2021, the Company entered into an Administrative and Infrastructure Services Agreement (the “Services Agreement”) with Beowulf Electricity & Data Inc.
(“Beowulf E&D”), a related party due to control by a member of Company management. Under the Services Agreement, Beowulf E&D will provide, or cause its affiliates to
provide, to TeraWulf certain services necessary to build out and operate certain bitcoin mining facilities anticipated to be developed by the Company and support the
Company’s ongoing business, including, among others, services related to construction- technical and engineering, operations and maintenance, procurement, information
technology, finance and accounting, human resources, legal, risk management and external affairs consultation. The Services Agreement has an initial term of five years and
provides for certain fixed, passthrough and incentive payments to Beowulf E&D, including issuing to certain designated employees of Beowulf E&D awards with respect to
shares of TeraWulf common stock upon the consummation of an initial public offering of TeraWulf or the consummation of a merger following which TeraWulf is listed on a
nationally recognized securities exchange and, thereafter, upon achievement of certain milestones regarding bitcoin mining capacity deployed at the bitcoin mining facilities.
For the base fee, the Company has agreed to pay Beowulf E&D in monthly installments an annual fee for the first year in the amount of $7.0 million and, thereafter, an annual
fee equal to the greater of $10.0 million or $0.0037 per kilowatt hour of electric load utilized by the bitcoin mining facilities. The Services Agreement also provides for
reimbursement of cost and expenses incurred in connection with providing the services. During the three and six months ended September 30, 2021, the Company paid Beowulf
E&D $2.2 million and $3.5 million, respectively, under the Services Agreement. Selling, general and administrative in the condensed consolidated statements of operations
includes $1.5 million and $3.6 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended September 30, 2021. As of September 30, 2021, $583,000 is included in prepaid
expenses and $51,000 is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the condensed consolidated balance sheet.
 
In April 2021, the Company reimbursed Heorot Power Holdings LLC (“HPH”), a related party due to control by a member of Company management, $1.6 million related to (i)
the development of bitcoin mining facilities including services and third party costs for transmission consulting, engineering consulting, transmission system impact study costs,
electricity procurement and site development costs, (ii) joint venture investigation and negotiation and (iii) certain Company organizational and legal costs. During the six
months ended September 30, 2021, $120,000 was included in selling, general and administrative expense in the condensed consolidated statement of operations.
 
In June 2021, the Company paid a related party due to control by a member of Company management $632,000 for the purchase of certain electrical infrastructure and
equipment for its planned bitcoin mining facility in New York. The certain electrical infrastructure and equipment is included in property, plant and equipment, net in the
condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2021.
 
NOTE 12 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
 
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through December 17, 2021, which is also the date these financial statements were available to be issued, and has determined
that the following subsequent events require disclosure.
 
Between October 4, 2021 and November 19, 2021, the Company obtained loans (each, a “Loan”) from its three largest stockholders in an aggregate principal amount of $25.0
million, each evidenced by a promissory note, certain of which were amended and restated subsequent to issuance. Interest on the unpaid principal balance of each Loan accrues
at a rate of 8% per annum and is paid in kind and added to the principal balance of such Loan on a monthly basis. The outstanding principal amount of each Loan, together with
all accrued and unpaid interest thereon, will be due and payable in full on the earliest to occur of: (i) the issuance of equity securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
under any offering in an amount greater than $50.0 million; and (ii) the first anniversary of the issuance date of such Loan. The Company may prepay the outstanding principal
balance of the Loans, in whole or in part, without penalty or premium at any time prior to the applicable maturity date. In December 2021, the Loans were repaid in full.
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TERAWULF INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
 
On December 1, 2021, the Company entered into a Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement whereby debt in the gross amount of $123.5 million was issued (the “Term Loan”).
The Term Loan bears an interest rate of 11.5% and an upfront fee of 1%, an amount of $1.2 million. The Company shall pay the outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan
in quarterly installments, commencing in April 2023, equal to 12.5% of the original principal amount of the Term Loan. Interest payments are due quarterly in arrears. The
Company has the option to prepay all or any portion of the Term Loan, subject to certain prepayment fees. Certain events, as described in the Term Loan agreement, require
mandatory prepayment. The Term Loan has usual and customary representations and warranties, covenants and events of default and is collateralized by substantially all of the
assets of the Company. In connection with the Term Loan offering, the Company issued to the holders of the Term Loans 839,398 shares of Common Stock, which is a quantity
of Common Stock expected to represent 1.5% of the outstanding shares of the publicly registered shares of TeraWulf subsequent to the Closing. In connection with the issuance
of the Term Loan and the December Private Placement, the Company incurred aggregate issuance costs of approximately $7.2 million in addition to the Term Loan upfront fee.
One Term Loan investor, NovaWulf Digital Master Fund, L.P., with a principal balance of $15.0 million, is a related party due to cumulative voting control by members of
Company management and a member of the Company’s board of directors.
 
On December 7, 2021, the Company entered into a Non-fixed Price Sales and Purchase Agreement with Bitmain for the purchase of 3,000 S19XP miners, with originally
scheduled monthly deliveries of 500 miners each between July 2022 and December 2022 (the “Second Bitmain Purchase Agreement”) for a total purchase price of $32.6
million. Pursuant to the Second Bitmain Purchase Agreement, the Company paid an initial deposit of approximately $11.4 million.
 
On December 13, 2021, upon the Closing of the Mergers, TeraWulf became a wholly owned subsidiary of Telluride Holdco, Inc. On the same day, TeraWulf changed its name
to TeraCub Inc. and Telluride Holdco, Inc. changed its name to TeraWulf Inc. These financial statements represent the consolidated financial position and consolidated results
of operations of the entity named Terawulf Inc. through December 13, 2021 and subsequently named TeraCub Inc.
 
On December 15, 2021, the Company entered into a Non-fixed Price Sales and Purchase Agreement with Bitmain for the purchase of 15,000 S19XP miners, with originally
scheduled monthly deliveries of 2,500 miners each between July 2022 and December 2022 (the “Third Bitmain Purchase Agreement”) for a total purchase price of $169.1
million. Pursuant to the Third Bitmain Purchase Agreement, the Company is obligated to pay an initial deposit of approximately $59.2 million within two days of entering the
agreement.
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NAUTILUS CRYPTOMINE LLC
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)
(Thousands of Dollars)
 
  September 30, 2021  
  Six Months Ended  
Revenues  $ —  
Expenses    
Development   (656)
Net Income (Loss)  $ (656)
 
The accompanying Notes to the Condensed Financial Statements are an integral part of the financial statements.
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NAUTILUS CRYPTOMINE LLC
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET (UNAUDITED)
(Thousands of Dollars)
 
  September 30,  
  2021  
Assets    
Property, plant and equipment  $ 127,432 
Intangible assets   29,270 
Total Assets  $ 156,702 
Liabilities and Equity     
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 12,678 
Total current liabilities   12,678 
Members' Equity   144,024 
Total Liabilities and Equity  $ 156,702 
 
The accompanying Notes to the Condensed Financial Statements are an integral part of the financial statements.
 

2

 

 
NAUTILUS CRYPTOMINE LLC
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
(Thousands of Dollars)
 
  Six Months Ended  
  September 30, 2021 
Operating Activities     
Net income (loss)  $ (656)
     
Change in assets and liabilities:     
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   593 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities   (63)
Investing Activities     
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment   (115,347)



Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   (115,347)
Financing Activities     
Contributions from members   115,410 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   115,410 
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents   — 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   — 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ — 
     
Supplemental Information:     
Increase (decrease) in capital expenditure accruals  $ 12,085 
Non-cash intangible asset and capital contribution related to ground lease and electricity sub-metering arrangement   29,270 
 
The accompanying Notes to the Condensed Financial Statements are an integral part of the financial statements.
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NAUTILUS CRYPTOMINE LLC
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF MEMBERS' EQUITY (UNAUDITED)
(Thousands of Dollars)

 
TeraWulf

(Thales) LLC (a)  
Cumulus

Coin LLC (a)  
Total Members'

Equity
Opening Balance, April 1, 2021  $ —  $ —  $ — 
Net income (loss)   (328)   (328)   (656)
Non-cash contributions from members (b) (c)   —   29,270   29,270 
Cash contributions from members   62,583   52,827   115,410 
September 30, 2021  $ 62,255  $ 81,769  $ 144,024 
 
(a) At September 30, 2021, TeraWulf (Thales) LLC and Cumulus Coin LLC each held 6,258,317, of members' units based on a $10.00 per unit value. This excludes 200,000

units reserved for each Member. These units are expected to be issued at $10.00 per unit upon each member's respective $2 million cash contribution as required by the
Nautilus LLC Agreement.

 
(b) Non-cash contribution recognized at formation for an intangible asset related to ground lease and electricity sub-metering arrangement.
 
(c) No members' units were issued to Cumulus Coin LLC for the non-cash contribution at formation. Cumulus Coin LLC will receive members' units in accordance with

Schedule II, or as otherwise modified, of the Nautilus LLC Agreement. Through September 30, 2021, Cumulus Coin LLC received 975,667 of member's units related to this
non-cash contribution.

  
The accompanying Notes to the Condensed Financial Statements are an integral part of the financial statements.
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NAUTILUS CRYPOTOMINE LLC
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
 
Capitalized terms and abbreviations appearing in the unaudited Notes to the Condensed Financial Statements are defined in the glossary. Dollars are in thousands, unless
otherwise noted. The terms "Nautilus," "the Company," "we," "us" and "our" refer to Nautilus Cryptomine LLC, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise.
 
1. Formation, Organization, and Operations
 
           
 TeraWulf (Thales) LLC     Cumulus Coin LLC  
  50% equity

ownership
  

          
            
   Nautilus Cryptomine LLC    
      
            
Nautilus, formed in March 2021, became part of a joint venture between TeraWulf and Cumulus in May 2021. The joint venture is to develop, construct, own and operate a
cryptomining facility in Berwick, Luzerne County, Pennsylvania. The facility will obtain zero carbon power supply under an agreement with an affiliate of Cumulus Coin. See
Note 6 for additional information on this agreement. TeraWulf and Cumulus each own 50% of the equity interests in Nautilus and each party is responsible for funding its pro
rata share of obligations under the Nautilus LLC Agreement.
 
Phase I of the project is for construction of up to 200 MW capacity digital currency mining facility and Phase II, if executed, could expand the project to a 300 MW capacity
facility. The joint venture is expected to commence cryptocurrency mining operations in mid-2022.
 
As of September 30, 2021, Nautilus had no operating revenue and no cryptomining facilities in operation but has commenced related development and equipment procurement
activities.
 
2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Basis of Presentation
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. In the opinion of Nautilus, the accompanying unaudited interim condensed financial statements reflect
recurring adjustments that occur in the normal course of business and considered necessary for a fair statement of such interim results.
 



Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
 
Fair Value Method. Nautilus does not perform recurring fair value determinations at this time. The carrying value of certain assets and liabilities on the Condensed Balance
Sheet, including “Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities” approximate fair value.
 
Operating Revenues and Revenue Recognition. Nautilus had no operating revenues as the Company is in the process of constructing its operating facilities. Once operations
commence, revenues will be recognized in accordance with GAAP, including as described below.
 
Nautilus intends to recognize revenue under FASB ASC 606 with the core principle of the revenue standard being that a company should recognize revenue to depict the
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. The following five steps are applied to achieve that core principle:
 

• Step 1: Identify the contract with the customer;
• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
• Step 3: Determine the transaction price;
• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
• Step 5: Recognize revenue when the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

 
In order to identify the performance obligations in a contract with a customer, Nautilus will assess the promised goods or services in the contract and identify each promised
good or service that is distinct. A performance obligation meets ASC 606’s definition of a “distinct” good or service (or bundle of goods or services) if both of the following
criteria are met: (i) the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other resources that are readily available to the customer (i.e., the good
or service is capable of being distinct); and (ii) the Company’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable from other promises in the
contract (i.e., the promise to transfer the good or service is distinct within the context of the contract).
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If a good or service is not distinct, the good or service is combined with other promised goods or services until a bundle of goods or services is identified that is distinct.
 
The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer. The
consideration promised in a contract with a customer may include fixed amounts, variable amounts, or both. When determining the transaction price, the Company considers the
effects of all of the following:
 

• Variable consideration;
• Constraining estimates of variable consideration;
• The existence of a significant financing component in the contract;
• Noncash consideration; and
• Consideration payable to a customer.

 
Variable consideration is included in the transaction price only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. The transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation on a relative
standalone selling price basis. The transaction price allocated to each performance obligation is recognized when that performance obligation is satisfied, at a point in time or
over time as appropriate.
 
Cryptocurrencies. Cryptocurrencies will be accounted for as intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortized but
assessed for impairment annually, or more frequently, when events or changes in circumstances occur indicating that it is more likely than not that the indefinite-lived asset is
impaired. Impairment exists when the carrying amount exceeds its fair value, which is measured using the quoted price of the cryptocurrency at the time its fair value is being
measured. In testing for impairment, Nautilus has the option to first perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that an impairment exists. If
it is determined that it is not more likely than not that an impairment exists, a quantitative impairment test is not necessary. If Nautilus concludes otherwise, its required to
perform a quantitative impairment test. To the extent an impairment loss is recognized, the loss establishes the new cost basis of the asset. Subsequent reversal of impairment
losses is not permitted.
 
There is currently no specific definitive guidance under GAAP or alternative accounting framework for the accounting for cryptocurrencies and management will exercise
significant judgment in determining the appropriate accounting treatment. In the event authoritative guidance is enacted under GAAP, Nautilus may be required to change its
policies, which could have an effect on its condensed financial position and results from operations.
 
Property, Plant and Equipment. Expenditures for the construction of cryptomining facilities and the addition or refurbishment of major equipment are capitalized at cost. Such
capitalized amounts include interest costs, where appropriate. In each case, such amounts are presented as "Property, plant, and equipment" on the Condensed Balance Sheet.
 
Once Nautilus commences operations, reductions in the carrying value of property, plant and equipment are accumulated over the estimated useful life of each depreciable unit
using straight-line method. Such periodic reduction is presented as a charge to “Depreciation and amortization” on the Condensed Statement of Operations.
 
See Note 3 for additional information on property, plant and equipment.
 
Intangible Assets. Expenditures for intangible assets such as contractual rights, software, licenses and electricity sub-metering arrangement are capitalized at cost. Such
amounts are presented as "Intangible assets" on the Condensed Balance Sheet. Reductions in the carrying value of intangible assets with finite useful lives are accumulated over
the estimated useful life of each intangible asset using an amortization pattern in which the economic benefits of each intangible asset is utilized. Such periodic reduction is
presented as a charge to "Depreciation and amortization" on the Condensed Statement of Operations. See "Cryptocurrencies" above for additional information on intangible
assets.
 
See Note 4 for additional information on intangible assets.
 
Impairments. Long-lived assets are assessed for impairment whenever changes in facts and circumstances indicate the carrying value of the asset group may not be recoverable.
Indicators of impairment may include changes in the economic environment, negative financial trends, physical damage to assets or decisions of management regarding
strategic initiatives. Individual assets are grouped for impairment purposes at the lowest level for which there are identifiable cash flows that are largely independent of the cash
flows of other assets and liabilities, where applicable. If there is an indication the carrying value of an asset group may not be recovered, management reviews the expected
future cash flows of the asset group. If the sum of the undiscounted pre-tax cash flows is less than the carrying value of the asset group, the asset group is written down to its
estimated fair value.
 
Fair value may be determined by a variety of valuation methods including third-party appraisals, market prices of similar assets, and present value techniques.



 
See "Cryptocurrencies" above for additional information on impairments.
 
There were no impairment charges for the six months ended September 30, 2021.
 
Leases. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term, while lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease
payments arising from the lease. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognized on commencement of the lease based on the present value of lease payments over the
lease term. The discount rate for a lease is the rate implicit in the lease unless that rate cannot be readily determined. In such a case, the discount rate utilized is Nautilus's
incremental secured borrowing rate over a similar time period and economic environment as the lease, based on information available at the lease commencement date.
 
Nautilus has entered into a Ground Lease Agreement with a related party with an initial lease term of five years that commences on the earlier of the start of operations or June
15, 2022. As of September 30, 2021, the lease has not yet commenced and pending the completion of significant lessor assets, and the right of use assets and lease liabilities
attributable to the ground lease have not been recognized.
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3. Property, Plant and Equipment
 
  September 30, 2021 
Construction work in progress  $ 127,432 
 
4. Intangible Asset
 
  September 30, 2021 
Electricity sub-metering arrangement  $ 29,270 
 
See Note 6 for information on the agreement supporting the recognition of the intangible asset.
 
5. Commitments and Contingencies
 
Equipment Supply Agreements
 
Miner agreements. Nautilus has executed agreements that are either variable or fixed rate for the purchase of 60,000 miners that will be delivered through June 2022 for a total
estimated purchase price of $298 million, after discounts.
 
Under the variable rate priced agreements, the cost for the miners is not fixed with the actual purchase price determined one month prior to the respective batch of the miners
being shipped and with reference to the market circumstances, provided that the actual purchase price of the miners will not be higher than the estimated aggregate purchase
price. The estimated aggregate purchase price under these agreements is $188 million before discount, $180 million after discount. Amounts are payable in installments prior to
shipment as outlined in the agreements. These miners are expected to be delivered between January 2022 and June 2022.
 
Under the fixed rate price agreement, the aggregate actual purchase price is $118 million. The miners are expected to be delivered between November 2021 and January 2022.
Amounts are payable in installments prior to delivery as outlined in the agreements.
 
As of September 30, 2021 Nautilus has made $113 million of equipment deposits for the miners that are reflected on the Condensed Balance Sheet within "Property, plant and
equipment.”
 
Litigation. From time-to-time in the ordinary course of its business, Nautilus may be subject to legal proceedings, claims and litigation. Nautilus is not party to any legal
proceedings, claims, and (or) litigation that would have a material adverse effect on Nautilus's financial condition or results of operations as of September 30, 2021.
 
Regulatory Matters
 
Cryptocurrency mining. Government regulation of blockchain and cryptocurrency mining industries is being actively considered by the United States federal government via
several agencies and regulatory bodies as well as similar entities in other countries. State government regulations also may apply to Nautilus’s activities and other activities in
which Nautilus participates or may participate in the future. Other regulatory bodies are governmental or semi-governmental and have shown an interest in regulating or
investigating companies engaged in the blockchain or cryptocurrency mining business.
 
Businesses that are engaged in the transmission and custody of bitcoin and other digital assets, including brokers and custodians, can be subject to the regulations of the U.S.
Department of the Treasury as money services businesses as well as state money transmitter licensing requirements. Bitcoin and other digital assets are subject to anti-fraud
regulations under federal and state commodity laws, and digital asset derivative instruments are substantively regulated by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission. Certain
jurisdictions, including, among others, the State of New York and a number of countries outside the United States, have developed regulatory requirements specifically for
digital assets and companies that transact in them.
 
Regulations may change substantially in the future, and it is presently not possible to know how regulations will apply to Nautilus's business or when they will become
effective. As the regulatory and legal environments evolve, Nautilus may become subject to new laws, further regulation by the SEC and other agencies, which may affect its
mining and other activities. For instance, various bills have been proposed in the U.S. Congress related to Nautilus’s business, which may be adopted and have an impact on
Nautilus.
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COVID-19. The duration of the economic effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, including any impacts our future operations and cost to or cryptomining equipment requirements,
remains uncertain and is subject to: (i) the continued severity of the COVID-19 pandemic; (ii) the effectiveness of efforts by health officials and governments to inoculate and
treat populations impacted by COVID-19 and (or) control the spread of COVID-19; (iii) the acceleration of economic recovery experienced by industrial and commercial
businesses; and (iv) the lessening of restrictions imposed by governments that are intended to mitigate the spread of COVID-19. The increased availability of vaccines in 2021
has been a significant contributor to economic activity showing improvement. The federal government continues to pursue actions requiring vaccinations for adults and more
recently providing access of vaccines to children. For example, in November 2021, OSHA released the "Emergency Temporary Standard" with the aim to protect employees
while at work through COVID-19 vaccination, testing and face coverings requirements. The OSHA rules have been challenged in court. At this time, it is unclear whether the
final rules will be implemented or, if implemented, on what terms.



 
The COVID-19 pandemic may still have unpredictable effects on the markets in which we transact, including our future revenue generating operations and the health and safety
of our people, particularly if there is a resurgence of COVID-19 cases. Given the substantial uncertainty of the severity and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic, any sustained
effect to Nautilus’s workforce, operations, liquidity and financial condition in future periods continues to be unknown. Accordingly, while we did not experience significant
impacts to date, COVID-19 could adversely affect our business, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations in future periods.
 
6. Related Party Transactions
 
Ground Lease
 
Nautilus has executed a Ground Lease Agreement for land and other facilities in Pennsylvania with a subsidiary of Talen Energy Corporation that commences at the earlier of
the beginning of its cryptomining operations or June 15, 2022, for an initial term of five years and two three-year extension options at the election of Nautilus.
 
The Ground Lease Agreement includes an electricity sub-metering arrangement to provide up to 100 MW of power to Nautilus at $20/MWh during the initial term. Nautilus
may elect to increase the capacity up to 300 MW. The rate for power on the additional capacity or during an extended term would be a market-based fixed price during the
remainder of the initial term or extended term, as applicable, at the time of the election. Electricity will be furnished by the lessor to Nautilus on a “sub-metering” basis. So long
as electric current is supplied by sub-metering, Nautilus will pay a delivered energy charge each month of the term of the Ground Lease Agreement. If Nautilus’s capacity factor
is below 95% during any such month, Nautilus is required to pay an additional capacity charge of $4.82 per MW-hour of any capacity shortage.
 
There were no expenses incurred under the Ground Lease Agreement for the six months ended September 30, 2021.
 
In connection with the execution of the Ground Lease Agreement, Nautilus recognized an intangible asset of $29 million related to the excess of the fair value of the electricity
required to be furnished over the price for which Nautilus is paying for such electricity, with a corresponding $29 million recognized as a non-cash capital contribution. The
intangible asset is to be amortized straight-line over the initial term of the Ground Lease Agreement.
 
Beowulf E&D Facility Operations Agreement
 
Nautilus executed the Beowulf FOA with Beowulf E&D in May 2021 pursuant to which Beowulf E&D will provide, or arrange for Nautilus, certain infrastructure, construction,
operations and maintenance and administrative services necessary to build out and operate the Nautilus facility and support Nautilus’ ongoing business at the Nautilus facility.
Pursuant to the FOA, Beowulf E&D may subcontract to any of its affiliates or, with respect to services performed off-site, to third parties or arrange for the provision of any or
all of the services to be provided by it or by any of its affiliates or, with respect to services performed off-site, by third parties, provided that Beowulf E&D remains responsible
to Nautilus for any services provided by such affiliate or third party.
 
Nautilus has agreed to pay Beowulf E&D an annual fee in the amount of $750 thousand payable annually in advance. Nautilus will also provide Beowulf E&D reimbursement
for all out-of-pocket fees, expenses and capital costs (with respect to such capital costs, solely to the extent approved in writing by Nautilus in advance) paid by Beowulf E&D
or its affiliates attributable to activities relating to the services, including, among others, the portion of the salaries, wages and related employee benefits and costs (including
taxes and contributions) and other compensation paid to Beowulf E&D employees directly allocable to the time spent by such Beowulf E&D employees, independent
contractors and subcontractors providing the services, which reimbursement will be prepaid monthly by Nautilus and reconciled monthly.
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The term of the Beowulf FOA will continue until the earliest of: (i) its termination by mutual consent of Nautilus and Beowulf E&D; (ii) the sale by TeraWulf and its affiliates
of their interests in Nautilus; (iii) the consummation of an initial public offering of Nautilus; or (iv) the termination of the Beowulf FOA by either party in the event of a default
by the other party.
 
Nautilus recognized $288 thousand for these services as of September 30, 2021 and for the six months ended September 30, 2021 on the Condensed Balance Sheet and
Condensed Statement of Operations.
 
Talen Corporate Services Agreement
 
Nautilus executed the Talen CSA with a subsidiary of Talen Energy Corporation in May 2021 pursuant to which the subsidiary will provide corporate and administrative
services including day-to-day corporate-level management and support services such as accounting and financial reporting, development planning, real estate, information
technology, financial planning and analysis, banking, treasury, regulatory, legal, supply chain and secretarial and administrative functions. Pursuant to the Talen CSA, the
subsidiary may subcontract the provision of the services to its affiliates or third parties, provided that the subsidiary remains responsible to Nautilus for any corporate services
provided by such affiliate or third party.
 
Nautilus has agreed to pay an annual fee in the amount of $750 thousand payable annually in advance. Nautilus will also provide reimbursement for all out-of-pocket fees,
expenses and capital costs (with respect to such capital costs, solely to the extent approved in writing by Nautilus in advance) attributable to activities relating to the services,
including, among others, the portion of the salaries, wages and related employee benefits and costs (including taxes and contributions) and other compensation paid to
employees directly allocable to the time spent by such employees, independent contractors and subcontractors providing the services, which reimbursement will be prepaid
monthly by Nautilus.
 
The term of the Talen CSA will continue until the earliest of: (i) its termination by mutual consent of both parties; (ii) the sale by Cumulus and its affiliates of their interests in
Nautilus; (iii) the consummation of an initial public offering of Nautilus; or (iv) the termination of the agreement by either party in the event of a default by the other party.
  
Nautilus recognized $288 thousand for these services as of September 30, 2021 and for the six months ended September 30, 2021 on the Condensed Balance Sheet and
Condensed Statement of Operations.
 
7. Subsequent Events
 
Nautilus evaluated subsequent events through December 16, 2021, the date the financial statements are available to be issued; all significant subsequent events, if any, are
included in their respective notes to the financial statements.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS
 



Legal Entities
 
Cumulus. Cumulus Coin LLC, 50% owner in Nautilus, direct subsidiary of Cumulus Coin Holdings LLC and indirect subsidiary of Talen Energy Corporation.
 
Cumulus Digital. Cumulus Digital LLC, a subsidiary of Cumulus Digital Holdings LLC that through its subsidiary Cumulus Coin Holdings LLC owns an indirect 50% interest
in Nautilus.
 
Nautilus. Nautilus Cryptomine LLC.
 
TeraWulf. TeraWulf (Thales) LLC, 50% owner in Nautilus and indirect subsidiary of TeraWulf Inc.
 
Other Terms and Abbreviations
 
ASC. Accounting Standards Codification.
 
ASC 606. FASB's ASC - Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
 
Beowulf E&D. Beowulf Electricity & Data Inc., a company controlled by TeraWulf's Chief Executive Officer.
 
COVID-19. Coronavirus disease.
 
Beowulf FOA. Facility Operations Agreement executed in May 2021 between Nautilus and Beowulf E&D to provide, or arrange for Nautilus, certain infrastructure,
construction, operations and maintenance and administrative services necessary to build out and operate the Nautilus facility and support Nautilus’ ongoing business at the
facility at an annual rate of $750 thousand and reimbursement of direct costs.
 
FASB. Financial Accounting Standards Board.
 
GAAP. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States.
 
Ground Lease Agreement. Agreement executed in May 2021, between Nautilus and a subsidiary of Talen Energy Corporation for certain premises located in Pennsylvania. The
agreement also provides for sub-metering of electricity.
 
GW. Gigawatt, one million kilowatts of electric power.
 
Kilowatt. One thousand watts of electric power.
 
Nautilus LLC Agreement. The Limited Liability Company Agreement of Nautilus Cryptomine LLC, effective as of May 13, 2021.
 
Talen CSA. Corporate and Services Agreement executed in May 2021 between Nautilus and a subsidiary of Talen Energy Corporation to provide corporate and administrative
services at an annual rate of $750 thousand plus reimbursement of direct and indirect costs.
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Exhibit 99.3

 
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 
The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information of TeraWulf Inc. (formerly known as Telluride Holdco, Inc.), a Delaware corporation

(“TeraWulf”), presents the combination of the financial information of TeraCub Inc. (formerly known as TeraWulf Inc.), a Delaware corporation (“TeraCub”), and IKONICS
Corporation, a Minnesota corporation (“IKONICS”), adjusted to give effect to the consummation of the strategic business combination pursuant to the agreement and plan of
merger, dated as of June 24, 2021 (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified, the “Merger Agreement”), by and among TeraWulf, IKONICS, Telluride Merger Sub I,
Inc., a Minnesota corporation (“Merger Sub I”), Telluride Merger Sub II, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Merger Sub II”), and TeraCub, pursuant to which (i) Merger Sub I, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of TeraWulf, which was a wholly-owned subsidiary of IKONICS, merged with and into IKONICS (the “First Merger”), with IKONICS surviving the
First Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of TeraWulf, and (ii) Merger Sub II, a wholly-owned subsidiary of TeraWulf, merged with and into TeraCub (the “Second Merger”
and, together with the First Merger, the “Mergers”), with TeraCub surviving the Second Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of TeraWulf.

 
The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared in accordance with Article 11 of Regulation S-X as amended by the final

rule, Release 33-10786 “Amendments to Financial Disclosures about Acquired and Disposed Businesses.”
 

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information was prepared using the acquisition method of accounting under the generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States (the “U.S. GAAP”) and gives effect to the consummation of the Mergers, which will be accounted for as a reverse acquisition, with
TeraCub being deemed the acquiring company for accounting purposes. TeraCub was determined to be the acquiring company for accounting purposes based upon the terms of
the Merger Agreement and other factors, including (i) TeraCub’s stockholders own a majority of the voting interests of TeraWulf immediately following the consummation of
the Mergers and (ii) directors appointed by TeraCub comprise a majority of the members of the board of directors of TeraWulf following consummation of the Mergers.

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements have been prepared from and should be read in conjunction with:

 
• the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements;

 
• the historical unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of TeraCub as of and for the six months ended September 30, 2021 and the related notes

contained as Exhibit 99.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K;
 

• the historical audited financial statements of TeraCub as of March 31, 2021 and for the period from February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to March 31, 2021
and the related notes contained as Appendix H to TeraWulf’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, as amended (file no. 333-258335) (the “ Registration
Statement/Prospectus”);

 
• the historical unaudited condensed financial statements of IKONICS as of and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and the related

notes contained in IKONICS’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 15, 2021;
 

• the historical audited financial statements of IKONICS as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the related notes contained as Appendix H to
the Registration Statement/Prospectus; and

 
• other information relating to TeraWulf and IKONICS contained elsewhere in this Current Report on Form 8-K and the Registration Statement/Prospectus.

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of September 30, 2021 combines the historical balance sheet of TeraCub and the historical balance sheet of

IKONICS on a pro forma basis and gives effect to the Mergers as if they had occurred on September 30, 2021.The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of
operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020 combine the historical results of operations of TeraCub and the historical
statements of operations of IKONICS for such periods on a pro forma basis and give effect to the Mergers as if they had occurred on January 1, 2020, the beginning of the
earliest period presented.

 
Because TeraCub is treated as the acquiring company for accounting purposes, TeraCub’s assets and liabilities are recorded at their carrying amounts prior to the

consummation of the Mergers and the historical operations that are reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information are those of TeraCub.
IKONICS’s assets and liabilities are measured and recognized at their fair values as of the closing date of the Mergers and combined with the assets, liabilities and results of
operations of TeraCub following consummation of the Mergers.

 

 

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is based on the assumptions and adjustments that are described in the accompanying notes, which

should be read in conjunction with the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information. The application of the acquisition method of accounting depends upon
certain valuations and other studies that have yet to be completed. Accordingly, the pro forma adjustments are preliminary, subject to further revision as additional information
becomes available and additional analyses are performed and have been made solely for the purpose of providing unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
information. Differences between these preliminary estimates and the final acquisition accounting will occur and these differences could have a material impact on the
accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information and TeraWulf’s future financial position and results of operations. In addition, differences
between the preliminary and final amounts will likely occur as a result of the amount of cash used for IKONICS’s operations, changes in the fair value of the contingent value
rights (“CVRs”) and other changes in IKONICS’s assets and liabilities.

 
In addition, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not give effect to the potential impact of current financial conditions, regulatory

matters, operating efficiencies or other savings or expenses that may be associated with the integration of TeraCub and IKONICS. The unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial information is preliminary and has been prepared for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the financial position or results of
operations in future periods or the results that actually would have been realized had TeraCub and IKONICS been a combined company during the specified periods.
 

 

  
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED BALANCE SHEET

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 
 

        Pro Forma     Pro Forma  
  TeraCub(1)  IKONICS(2)  Adjustments   Note 3  Combined  

ASSETS                   

CURRENT ASSETS:
                  



Cash  $ 594,000  $ 1,500,847  $ (13,712,073)  (c)  $ 175,425,724 
           191,676,794  (k)     
           (4,633,844)  (e)     

Trade receivables, net   -   1,875,177   -     1,875,177 
Inventories   -   1,649,517   (1,649,517)  (f)   3,379,207 

           3,379,207  (g)     
Prepaid expenses and other assets   2,624,000   188,847   -     2,812,847 

Total current assets   3,218,000   5,214,388   175,060,567     183,492,955 
Equity in nest assets of investee   63,005,000   -   -     63,005,000 
PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT:                   

Property, plant and equipment   8,410,000   16,473,168   (16,473,168)  (f)   18,388,166 
           9,978,166  (g)     

Less accumulated depreciation   -   (9,540,029)   9,540,029  (f)   - 
Total property, plant and equipment, net   8,410,000   6,933,139   3,045,027     18,388,166 

Deposits   567,000   -   -     567,000 
Intangible Assets, net   -   232,679   (232,679)  (f)   3,699,484 
           3,699,484  (g)     
Goodwill   -   -   46,021,973  (b)   46,021,973 
Other assets   1,389,000   -   -     1,389,000 

Total assets  $ 76,589,000  $ 12,380,206  $ 227,594,372    $ 316,563,578 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY                   
CURRENT LIABILITIES:                   

Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities  $ 8,035,000  $ 2,198,303  $ 7,845,192  (e)  $ 18,078,495 
Current portion of operating lease liability   87,000   -   -     87,000 
Contingent Value Rights   -   -   10,142,967  (c)   10,142,967 

Total current liabilities   8,122,000   2,198,303   17,988,159     28,308,462 
Long-term debt   -   -   96,253,117  (k)   96,253,117 
Operating lease liability, net of current portion   1,015,000   -   -     1,015,000 
Total liabilities   9,137,000   2,198,303   114,241,276     125,576,579 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES                   
Series A preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share   49,815,000   -   (49,815,000)  (j)   - 
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY                   
Common stock, par value $0.001 per share   50,000   -   1,999  (c)   100,592 
           47,977  (d)     
           616  (h)     
Common stock, par value $0.10 per share   -   198,153   (198,153)  (a)   - 
Additional paid-in-capital   29,892,000   2,981,620   (2,981,620)  (a)   228,170,443 
           40,588,359  (c)     
           (47,977)  (d)     
           12,499,384  (h)     
           49,815,000  (j)     
           95,423,677  (k)     
Retained earnings / (accumulated deficit)   (12,305,000)   7,002,130   (7,002,130)  (a)   (37,284,036)
           (12,479,036)  (e)     
           (12,500,000)  (h)     

Total stockholders' equity   17,637,000   10,181,903   163,168,096     190,986,999 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 76,589,000  $ 12,380,206  $ 227,594,372    $ 316,563,578 

 

(1) Derived from the unaudited balance sheet of TeraCub as of September 30, 2021.
  
(2) Derived from the unaudited balance sheet of IKONICS as of September 30, 2021.
 

 

 
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021
 

        Pro Forma     Pro Forma  
  TeraCub(1)  IKONICS(2)  Adjustments   Note 3  Combined  

Net sales  $ -  $ 12,068,208  $ -    $ 12,068,208 
Cost of goods sold   -   8,060,482   -     8,060,482 
Gross profit   -   4,007,726   -     4,007,726 
Cost of opertions:                   

Operating expenses   1,004,000   -   -     1,004,000 
Selling, general and administrative expenses   10,973,000   5,402,147   (4,265,669)  (e)   12,343,547 

           (574,645)  (f)     
           808,714  (g)     

Research and development expenses   -   398,425   -     398,425 

Total cost of operations
  11,977,000   5,800,572   (4,031,600)     13,745,972 

Loss from operations   (11,977,000)   (1,792,846)   4,031,600     (9,738,246)
Interest expense   -   (102,443)   (18,380,854)  (k)   (18,483,297)
Other income   -   5,195   -     5,195 
Loss before income taxes   (11,977,000)   (1,890,094)   (14,349,254)     (28,216,348)
Income tax expense   -   5,557   -     5,557 
Equity in net loss of investee, net of tax   328,000   -   -     328,000 
Net loss  $ (12,305,000)  $ (1,895,651)  $ (14,349,254)    $ (28,549,905)
Loss per common share:                   



Basic and diluted      $ (0.96)        $ (0.28)
Weighted average common shares outstanding:                   

Basic and diluted       1,978,638   98,613,376  (i)   100,592,014 
 

(1) Derived from the audited statement of operations of TeraCub for the period from February 8, 2021 (date of inception) to March 31, 2021 and the unaudited
consolidated statement of operations of TeraCub for the six months ended September 30, 2021.

 
(2) Derived from the unaudited statement of operations of IKONICS for the nine months ended September 30, 2021.
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED 

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS FOR 
THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 

 
        Pro Forma     Pro Forma  
  TeraCub(1)  IKONICS(2)  Adjustments   Note 3  Combined  

Net sales  $                    -  $ 13,432,220  $ -    $ 13,432,220 
Cost of goods sold   -   9,527,143   -     9,527,143 
Gross profit   -   3,905,077   -     3,905,077 
Cost of opertions:                   

Selling, general and administrative expenses   -   5,019,604   (698,054)  (f)   5,399,836 
           1,078,286  (g)     

Selling, general and administrative expenses attributable to
related party share issuance   -   -   12,500,000  (h)   12,500,000 
Research and development expenses   -   671,493   -     671,493 

Total cost of operations   -   5,691,097   12,880,232     18,571,329 
Loss from operations   -   (1,786,020)   (12,880,232)     (14,666,252)
Interest expense   -   (86,561)   (25,953,112)  (k)   (26,039,673)
Other income   -   1,223,261   -     1,223,261 
Loss before income taxes   -   (649,320)   (38,833,344)     (39,482,664)
Income tax benefit   -   (210,000)   -     (210,000)
Net loss  $ -  $ (439,320)  $ (38,833,344)    $ (39,272,664)
Loss per common share:                   

Basic and diluted      $ (0.22)        $ (0.39)
Weighted average common shares outstanding:                   

Basic and diluted       1,976,354   98,613,376  (i)   100,589,730 
 

(1) TeraCub was not formed as of December 31, 2020 and, therefore, had no business activity during the year ended December 31, 2020.
 
(2) Derived from the audited statement of operations of IKONICS for the year ended December 31, 2020.
 

 

  
NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
Note 1 — Description of the Mergers and Basis of Presentation

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information was prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and pursuant to the rules and regulations of Regulation

S-X and presents the pro forma financial position and results of operations of the combined companies based upon the historical data of TeraCub and IKONICS.
 
Description of the Mergers

 
On December 13, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), TeraWulf consummated the Mergers pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement. In connection with or as a result of the

First Merger and the Second Merger, each of IKONICS and TeraCub became a wholly-owned subsidiary of TeraWulf. In addition, in connection with the consummation of the
Mergers, “Telluride Holdco, Inc.” was renamed “TeraWulf Inc.”, and “TeraWulf Inc.” was renamed “TeraCub Inc.”.

 
Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, in connection with the First Merger, each share of the common stock, $0.10 par value per share, of IKONICS (the

“IKONICS Common Stock”) issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the First Merger was automatically converted into and exchanged for (i) one
validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable share of the common stock, $0.001 par value per share, of TeraWulf (the “TeraWulf Common Stock”), (ii) one contractual
contingent value right to be issued by TeraWulf in accordance with  a contingent value rights agreement (iii) the right to receive $5.00 in cash, without interest. Each share of
the TeraWulf Common Stock held by IKONICS issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the First Merger was automatically cancelled and ceased to
exist as of the effective time of the First Merger, and each share of the common stock, $0.01 par value per share, of Merger Sub I issued and outstanding as of immediately prior
to the effective time of the First Merger was automatically converted into and exchanged for one validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable share of common stock of the
surviving IKONICS entity.

 
Immediately prior to the effective time of the Second Merger, each share of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value per share, of TeraCub (the

“TeraCub Preferred Stock”) issued and outstanding was automatically converted into shares of the common stock, $0.001 par value per share, of TeraCub (the “TeraCub
Common Stock”). At the effective time of the Second Merger, each share of the TeraCub Common Stock (including shares of the TeraCub Common Stock resulting from the
conversion of the TeraCub Preferred Stock described above), issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Second Merger (other than any dissenting
shares of the TeraCub Common Stock) was automatically converted into the right to receive a number of validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable shares of the TeraWulf
Common Stock equal to (x) a number of shares of the TeraWulf Common Stock that is equal to forty-nine times the number of shares of the TeraWulf Common Stock
outstanding as of immediately following the effective time of the First Merger and immediately prior to the effective time of the Second Merger, divided by (y) the number of
shares of the TeraCub Common Stock outstanding on a fully diluted basis as of immediately prior to the effective time of the Second Merger. Each share of the common stock,



$0.01 par value per share, of Merger Sub II issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Second Merger was automatically converted into and
exchanged for one validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable share of common stock of the surviving TeraCub entity, and each share of the TeraCub Preferred Stock and the
TeraCub Common Stock held by TeraCub or IKONICS and their respective affiliates in treasury as of the effective time of the Second Merger was canceled.

 
In addition, on December 1, 2021, the compensation committee of the board of directors of IKONICS approved the cancellation of all of the restricted stock units

outstanding under the IKONICS Corporation 2019 Equity Incentive Plan (“IKONICS RSUs”) in exchange for cash payment equal to $33.82, net of applicable withholding
taxes, for each share underlying the unvested portion of such IKONICS RSUs. Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, TeraCub funded the payments in exchange for
cancellation of IKONICS RSUs in connection with the completion of the First Merger. Holders of IKONICS RSUs who did not participate in the cancellation arrangement
received the same consideration as other holders of shares of the IKONICS Common Stock as a result of the First Merger.

 

 

 
Following the consummation of the Mergers, IKONICS must operate its businesses consistent with past practices and, subject to the terms and conditions of the agreement

governing the CVRs, must use reasonable best efforts to pursue and consummate dispositions of its assets and businesses existing prior to the consummation of the Mergers as
soon as reasonably practicable. 
 
Basis of Presentation

 
TeraWulf has preliminarily concluded that the Mergers represent a business combination pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards

Codification Topic 805, Business Combinations. TeraWulf has not yet completed an external valuation analysis of the fair value of IKONICS’s assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. Using the estimated total consideration for the Mergers, TeraWulf has estimated the allocations to such assets and liabilities. This preliminary purchase price
allocation has been used to prepare pro forma adjustments in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet. The final purchase price allocation will be determined
when TeraWulf has determined the final consideration and completed the detailed valuations and other studies and necessary calculations. The final purchase price allocation
could differ materially from the preliminary purchase price allocation used to prepare the pro forma adjustments. The final purchase price allocation may include (i) changes in
fair values of property, plant and equipment, (ii) changes in allocations to intangible assets and goodwill, (iii) other changes to assets and liabilities and (iv) changes to the
purchase consideration, including changes based on the valuation of contingent consideration.

 
Acquisition accounting rules require evaluation of certain assumptions and estimates or determination of financial statement classifications, which are completed during the

measurement period as defined under accounting standards in effect as of the date of this Current Report on Form 8-K. The accounting policies of IKONICS may materially
vary from those of TeraCub. During preparation of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information, a preliminary analysis was performed and TeraWulf is
not aware of any material differences. Accordingly, this unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information assumes no material differences in accounting policies
between TeraCub and IKONICS other than the pro forma reclassifications detailed in Note 3. Following the Mergers and during the measurement period, a final review of
accounting policies will be performed. As a result of this review, management may identify differences that, when conformed, could have a material impact on the unaudited
pro forma condensed combined financial information.

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information was prepared without the application of held for sale accounting to any long-lived asset or disposal

group of IKONICS because it has not been determined that the applicable held for sale criteria was met on the Closing Date. The Merger Agreement generally restricted
IKONICS’s ability to sell its assets and operations and, accordingly, IKONICS pre-Mergers business was not actively marketed for sale prior to the consummation of the
Mergers.

 
Upon satisfaction of all applicable U.S. GAAP criteria for the classification of the IKONICS’s pre-Mergers business as held for sale, and because this represents a strategic

shift in the business also as a discontinued operation, the presentation of the IKONICS’s pre-Mergers business will be as follows:
 

(1)      the results of the discontinued operations, less applicable taxes (benefits), or a loss recognized on classification as held for sale, shall be reported as a separate
component of income in the consolidated statements of operations; and

 
(2)      assets and liabilities shall be presented separately in the asset and liability sections, respectively, in the consolidated balance sheets.

 
The potential sale (to broadly include a sale, transfer, disposition of, spin-off or license of all or any part) of the IKONICS’s pre-Mergers business is subject to certain risks

and uncertainties, including the ability to consummate such a sale, the potential timing of a sale and the ability to receive a sale price in excess of the then carrying amount of
IKONICS’s pre-merger business. The sale of the IKONICS’s pre-Mergers business may not be consummated in the near future, if ever, and the potential terms of the sale may
result in a loss on sale. Upon consummation of a sale of IKONICS’s pre-Mergers business, if ever, a gain or loss on the sale shall be calculated and presented separately in the
consolidated statements of operations.
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Note 2 — Estimated Consideration and Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation
 

The following table summarizes the components of the estimated consideration:
 

Estimated IKONICS shares outstanding(1)   1,998,525 
Estimated IKONICS RSUs subject to accelerated vesting(2)   1,000 
Subtotal   1,999,525 
Cash consideration (per IKONICS share)  $ 5.00 
Estimated share-based cash portion of purchase price  $ 9,997,625 
Other cash consideration paid to IKONICS(3)  $ 3,714,448 
Total cash portion of purchase price  $ 13,712,073 
CVRs  $ 10,142,967 
Post-Mergers TeraWulf share price(4)  $ 20.30 
Estimated IKONICS shares outstanding(1)   1,998,525 
Estimated IKONICS RSUs subject to accelerated vesting(2)   100,000 
Subtotal   1,999,525 
Equity portion of purchase price  $ 40,590,358 
Total estimated consideration to be paid  $ 64,445,398 

 



(1) Represents the number of shares of the IKONICS Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the consummation of the Mergers.

 
(2) Represents the share issuance impact of IKONICS RSUs subject to accelerated vesting immediately prior to the consummation of the Mergers.
 
(3) Represents additional cash consideration paid to IKONICS immediately prior to the consummation of the Mergers as follows:
 
(4) Represents the closing TeraWulf share price on the first trading day subsequent to the consummation of the Mergers.
 
 

Reimbursement of payments for cancellation of IKONICS RSUs  $ 2,891,948 
Reimbursement of certain IKONICS expenses relating to the Mergers   822,500 
  $ 3,714,448 

 
The CVR portion of the purchase price will depend on the net proceeds received for IKONICS’s pre- Mergers business when such sale is consummated. The preliminary

estimated CVR portion of the purchase price is computed based (1) on a historical time weighted average of average market capitalization of IKONICS less all working capital
items, except inventory, on the balance sheet of IKONICS over the eight quarters prior to the announcement of the Mergers (where the most recent quarter is weighted the
highest and each preceding quarter is weighted successively less), (2) on an assumption of estimated transaction costs of 2%, (3) on CVR holders receiving 95% of net proceeds
from a sale of IKONICS’s pre-Mergers business and (4) on an estimated probability of the consummation of the sale of IKONICS’s pre-Mergers business of 95% within the 18-
months period.

 
TeraWulf has performed a preliminary valuation analysis of the fair value of IKONICS’s assets and liabilities. The following table summarizes the allocation of the

preliminary purchase price as of the Closing Date:
 

Cash  $ 1,500,847 
Trade receivables, net   1,875,177 
Inventories   3,379,207 
Prepaid expenses and other assets   188,847 
Property, plant and equipment   9,978,166 
Intangible assets   3,699,484 
Goodwill   46,021,973 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   (2,198,303)

Total estimated consideration  $ 64,445,398 
 

Under the acquisition method of accounting, the total purchase price is allocated to the acquired tangible and intangible assets and assumed liabilities of IKONICS based on
their estimated fair values as of the Closing Date. The excess of the acquisition consideration paid over the estimated fair values of net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill in
the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet.
 

 

 
Note 3 — Pro Forma Adjustments

 
The pro forma adjustments are based on preliminary estimates and assumptions that are subject to change. The following adjustments have been reflected in the unaudited

pro forma condensed combined financial information:
 

(a) Represents the elimination of the historical equity of IKONICS.
 

(b) Represents the estimated initial allocation of excess purchase price to goodwill (see Note 2 to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information).
 

(c) Represents the components of the estimated purchase price for IKONICS, including the allocation of the equity component between the TeraWulf Common Stock, based
on a par value of $0.001 per share, and additional paid-in capital (see Note 2 to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information).

 
(d) Represents the estimated issuance of incremental shares of the TeraWulf Common Stock to TeraCub’s stockholders in accordance with the Merger Agreement as

follows:
 

Shares attributed to conversion of the IKONICS Common Stock   1,999,525 
Aggregate TeraCub share amount – multiple of IKONICS attributed shares   49 
Aggregate TeraWulf share amount   97,976,725 
Less: number of outstanding TeraCub shares   50,000,000 
Incremental TeraCub shares   47,976,725 
Par value  $ 0.001 
Par value of incremental TeraCub shares  $ 47,977 

 
(e) Reflects adjustments regarding the impact of estimated direct, incremental transaction costs relating to the Mergers of both TeraCub and IKONICS, such as legal,

financial advisory and accounting expenses, estimated as follows:
 

Costs relating to the Mergers reflected in the historical financial statements(1)  $ 4,265,669 

Costs relating to the Mergers not yet reflected in the historical financial statements(2)  
 12,479,036

 
Total estimated direct, incremental transaction costs relating to the Mergers  $ 16,744,705 

 

 (1) Direct, incremental transaction costs relating to the Mergers reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the nine
months ended September 30, 2021 are removed because these costs are non-recurring and directly related to the Mergers.

 
 (2) Direct, incremental transaction costs relating to the Mergers not yet reflected in the historical financial statements are reflected as an adjustment in the

unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet (but not in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations because these costs
are non-recurring and directly related to the Mergers).

 



(f) Represents the elimination of IKONICS’s historical inventory, property, plant and equipment, accumulated depreciation and intangible assets, net in the unaudited pro
forma condensed combined balance sheet and the elimination of historical depreciation and amortization in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of
operations.

 
(g) Represents the estimated and preliminary allocation of the purchase price to acquired tangible and intangible assets and the estimated depreciation and amortization

expense included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations, as follows:
 
           Depreciation  
        Depreciation   or  
        or   Amortization  
        Amortization   for the Nine  
  Preliminary   Weighted   for the Year   Months  
  Purchase   Average   Ended   Ended  
  Price   Useful   December 31,   September 30,  
  Allocation   Life   2020   2021  
Inventory  $ 3,379,207             
Property, plant and equipment  $ 9,978,166   23.3  $ 515,772  $ 386,829 
Intangible Assets:

Intellectual property  $ 1,535,045   7.1  $ 216,535  $ 162,401 
Trademarks and trade names   869,084   10.0   86,908   65,181 
Customer relationships   1,295,355   5.0   259,071   194,303 

Total intangible assets  $ 3,699,484      $ 562,514  $ 421,885 
 

The final purchase price allocation, including identifying and establishing the fair value of acquired intangible assets, will be determined when TeraWulf has determined the
final consideration and completed the detailed valuations and other studies and necessary calculations. The final purchase price allocation could differ materially from the
preliminary purchase price allocation used to prepare the pro forma adjustments.
 

 

  
(h) Represents awards with respect to shares of common stock expected to be issued to certain employees of Beowulf Electricity & Data Inc. (“Beowulf E&D”), a company

controlled by TeraWulf’s Chief Executive Officer, upon consummation of the Mergers in accordance with the administrative and infrastructure services agreement,
dated as of April 27, 2021.

 
Value of share awards due to Beowulf E&D employees  $ 12,500,000 
Post-Mergers TeraWulf share price  $ 20.30 
Estimated shares to be issued under awards to Beowulf E&D employees   615,764 
Par value  $ 0.001 
Par value of shares issued under awards to Beowulf E&D employees  $ 616 

  
(i) Represents the increase in the estimated weighted average shares due to the issuance of the shares of the TeraWulf Common Stock in connection with consummation of

the Mergers as follows:
 

Shares issued to TeraCub stockholders   97,976,725 
Shares issued to IKONICS’s holders of RSUs or stock options   20,887 
Shares issued under awards to employees of Beowulf E&D   615,764 
   98,613,376 

  
(j) Represents the conversion of the TeraCub Preferred Stock into the TeraWulf Common Stock.

 
(k) Represents the issuance of long-term debt and equity, necessary to complete the Mergers, by TeraCub in December 2021, prior to the consummation of the Mergers, and

related interest expense and amortization of related debt issuance costs, discount and upfront fee, as follows:
 

Long-term debt, net of issuance costs(1)  $ 96,253,117 
Additional paid-in capital:  Loan Shares, net of issuance costs(1)   20,858,983 
Additional paid-in capital:  Subscription Shares, net of issuance costs(2)   74,564,694 
Cash proceeds, net of issuance costs  $ 191,676,794 

  
(1) On December 1, 2021, TeraCub, as borrower, entered into a loan, guaranty and security agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with certain subsidiaries of TeraCub, as

guarantors, the lenders party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as administrative agent and collateral agent. The Loan Agreement provides TeraCub
with a $123.5 million senior secured term loan (the “Term Loan”), all of which was borrowed on December 2, 2021. In addition, on December 1, 2021, TeraCub issued
to the lenders party to the Loan Agreement an aggregate of 839,398 shares of the TeraCub Common Stock (the “Loan Shares”).
 

(2) On December 1, 2021, TeraCub entered into subscription agreements with certain accredited investors, pursuant to which such accredited investors agreed to purchase in
private placement transactions an aggregate of 2,261,932 newly issued shares of the TeraCub Common Stock (the “Subscription Shares”) for an aggregate purchase
price of approximately $76.5 million.

  

  

Year
Ended 

December 
31, 2020   

Nine 
Months
Ended 

September 
30, 2021  

Interest expense on new debt  $ 14,202,500  $ 9,654,782 

Amortization of new debt issuance costs, discount and upfront fee
  11,750,612   8,726,072 

  $ 25,953,112  $ 18,380,854 
  

The proceeds of the Term Loan and the issuance of the Subscription Shares are presented net of issuance costs and the proceeds of the Term Loan are allocated on a
preliminary basis to the underlying loan and the Loan Shares on a relative fair value basis. The final allocation of proceeds and, therefore, the amortization of debt issuance
costs, discount and upfront fee, could differ materially from the preliminary allocation used to prepare this pro forma adjustment. The Loan Shares and the Subscription Shares



were automatically converted into the right to receive the shares of the TeraWulf Common Stock in connection with the Second Merger.
 

 
 


